

# Protecting our pensions and the planet

**Briefing for councillors** 

November 2021









# **Contents**

Introduction	3
What is fossil fuel divestment?	4
Local government and other pension funds are already divesting	5
Why divest local government pension funds?	6
1. Protect pensions—the financial case for divestment	6
Case study: Is BP changing fast enough?	7
2. Protect the planet—the environmental case for divestment	9
3. Invest in our future—support local economies	10
Case study: Is Shell changing fast enough?	11
4. Engagement has not worked	12
Now is the time for ending fossil fuel investment	14
What can councillors do?	16
References	18

# Introduction

Across the UK, councils invest nearly £10 billion in the oil, gas and coal industries through local government pension funds on behalf of nearly seven million pension-holders. Taken together, local government pension funds represent the largest pension scheme in the UK.

Investing local pensions in fossil fuels is fuelling climate change and air pollution, contradicting local, national and international commitments to tackle climate change. It is also putting members' pensions in jeopardy as fossil fuel investments now pose a dangerous long-term financial risk to investors.

This briefing for councillors outlines what fossil fuel divestment is, how divestment safeguards pensions and our communities, and why now is the time to act.

There are a number of local government pension funds across the UK that are already divesting from fossil fuels and thereby protecting communities from climate change, ensuring financial security for pension-holders and, in many cases, also increasing investment in their local areas. Your council can be next and make a change that will improve our future health and prosperity, both locally and globally.

# What is fossil fuel divestment?

Divestment is the opposite of investment; it means selling assets. The fossil fuel divestment campaign asks that institutions, such as local government pension funds, move their direct and indirect investments out of the fossil fuel industry over a sensible time period, usually between three and five years.

To move toward the zero carbon future we all want, we need to phase out the use of fossil fuels. This means we need to follow the science and limit the extraction and production of fossil fuels as part of a managed energy transition. There are already far more known fossil fuel reserves than can possibly be burned to stay within globally agreed targets for limiting global heating. Nearly 60% of oil and fossil methane gas, and 90% of coal, must remain unextracted to keep within a 1.5 °C carbon budget.<sup>3</sup> Yet the fossil fuel companies that our pension funds invest in continue to expand.

What is deemed 'acceptable' within our society is informed in no small part by the actions of trusted public bodies, such as local councils. The power of these trusted bodies comes in their ability to grant and/or rescind the social license for individuals, groups and companies to operate in a given way. In turn, the decision to grant or rescind this license of acceptability holds huge sway over legislation; as a country, we legislate for or against a practice once it is considered morally controversial.

Local governments in the UK were some of the first institutions in the world to commit to divestment in opposition to apartheid in South Africa in the early 1980s.<sup>4</sup> Although this had little financial impact on the companies there, it was still vital in strengthening opposition to apartheid and ultimately changed legislation.<sup>5</sup>

The public are more concerned about climate change than ever before.<sup>6</sup> Research on the behalf of the Conservative Environmental Network has found that consistently across age, region and voting behaviour, 70% of the public would view a failure to tackle climate change and pollution in a post-Covid economy as 'a sign that the government has the wrong priorities'.<sup>7</sup>

In our efforts to halt climate breakdown, and necessarily to phase out fossil fuels, local governments have two equally important roles to play: reflecting public opinion and shaping central government action. With the eyes of the world on the UK as a consequence of hosting the UN COP26 climate talks, now is a fantastic time to make a local decision with truly global consequence, and commit to ending costly and unpopular investments in fossil fuel companies.

# Local government and other pension funds are already divesting

As a result of a growing awareness of both the environmental and financial case for divestment, the pace of announcements has increased. In September 2016, the London Borough of Waltham Forest became the first council in the UK to commit to fully divest from fossil fuels, voting to sell its entire £24 million stake in oil, gas and coal. Since then, 17 more pension funds have made full or partial divestment commitments.<sup>8</sup> Many have also committed to increase investment in sustainable projects like local renewable energy.

Over 60% of all UK universities and 80 faith institutions have committed to divesting from fossil fuels. Both the Welsh Parliament and Northern Ireland Assembly have committed to divest their pension funds, and 360 MPs from across the political spectrum have called on their pension fund to divest. Globally, 1,485 institutions representing over \$39.2 trillion in assets have committed to going fossil free.

In the build-up to the November 2021 Glasgow UN COP26 climate talks, there has been an increased interest in divestment and a number of notable announcements such as New York state's \$226bn pension fund.<sup>12</sup>

# Why divest local government pension funds?

### 1. Protect pensions—the financial case for divestment

Local government pension funds have a legal responsibility to invest in the best interests of fund members; this is known as fiduciary duty. However, by investing in fossil fuels, these pensions are placed in a financially risky position. Legal opinions by leading QC barristers show that pension fund trustees who fail to consider climate risk could be exposing themselves to legal challenge.<sup>13</sup>

As the UN warns, globally we are on course to produce more than double the amount of fossil fuels in 2030 than would be consistent with the 1.5 °C target of the Paris Agreement, which was signed into law by the UK Government.<sup>14</sup> Action by governments to limit carbon emissions in line with this will leave fossil fuel reserves unburnable. This 'carbon bubble' has the potential to leave over €1 trillion worth of assets 'stranded' in Europe alone.<sup>15</sup> Experts like Mark Carney, the former Governor of the Bank of England, have warned of these risks: he has cautioned that fossil fuel companies face 'potentially huge' losses from action on climate change that could make vast

reserves of oil, coal and gas 'literally unburnable'.16

In May 2021, the influential International Energy Agency (IEA) released modelling that predicts global oil demand will decline from the 90m barrels a day at present to 24m barrels a day by 2030.<sup>17</sup> Following this announcement, the Executive Director of the IEA discouraged continuing to put money into oil and gas projects, referring to them as potential 'junk investments.'<sup>18</sup> The IEA also published new findings in October 2021 which noted that oil demand could peak as early as 2025.<sup>19</sup>

Funds that continue to invest in fossil fuels can expect to suffer considerable losses when the 'carbon bubble' bursts. This makes the oil, gas and coal industries an increasingly financially-risky sector to invest in—especially for long-term investors like pension funds. Pension investment is not about taking a punt on the stock market, it is about seeking strong and reliable returns over a long-term period.

In 2015, UK local councils lost up to £683 million off the value of their pension funds as a result of failed investments in coal firms, and by November 2020 the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) had collectively lost £2 billion by not divesting from oil and gas.<sup>20</sup> By continuing to invest in the fossil fuel industry despite this evidence, local government pension funds are

exposing pension-holders' savings to considerable losses when the carbon bubble bursts.

The shift away from fossil fuels is a technological shift. Fossil fuels have dominated our energy system for decades because there was no threat to their monopoly on heating and transportation. But solar and wind are now the cheapest and cleanest sources of energy.<sup>21</sup>

# Case study: Is BP changing fast enough?

BP, the second most heavily invested in fossil fuel company by LGPS funds, has claimed that it will transition to net-zero by 2050. In 2000, BP briefly renamed themselves 'beyond petroleum'.<sup>22</sup> Twenty years later 96% of BP's annual capital expenditure was spent on oil and gas.<sup>23</sup> Even under its "net-zero by 2050" plan, BP still plans on producing 1.5 million barrels of oil per day, including new expansion plans that go directly against clear guidance from the IEA that says we must end all new exploration now.<sup>24</sup> BP's emissions reduction plan explicitly excludes the one third of its overall oil and gas production that comes as a result of the company's 20% stake in the Russian oil company Rosneft<sup>25</sup>. In October 2021, representatives from the UK Government decided to exclude fossil fuel companies from any formal role at the UN COP 26 climate talks in Glasgow, due to doubts over the trustworthiness of their net-zero plans.<sup>26</sup> BP in particular was singled out by civil servants, who did not want them to take part as "it's unclear whether BP's [net zero] commitments stack up yet." <sup>27</sup>

9

When determining the value of a company, investors look at what they think the company is worth today and—crucially—what it will be worth in the future. That is why by mid-2020 the electric vehicle manufacturer Tesla was worth more than Ford, BMW, Honda, Volkswagen, Fiat Chrysler, Ferrari and General Motors combined.<sup>28</sup>

Crucially, several high profile reports have also shown that a 'fossil free' portfolio can give equivalent or even higher returns for investors. For example, a study over ten years up until mid-2020 found that sustainable funds delivered higher returns than traditional funds, both before and during the pandemic.<sup>29</sup> In March 2021, the investment firm BlackRock, the largest asset manager in the world, came to the same conclusion.30 Between 2010 and 2021, MSCI—the world's leading stock market tracker—has shown that 'fossil free' funds earned more than the standard funds which contained oil, gas and coal companies.31

Solar and wind energy are now the cheapest form of energy to produce in most regions,<sup>32</sup> and smarter investors are rapidly moving their money into the clean energy sector. In order to safeguard the retirement savings of millions of LGPS pension-holders across the UK, councils must recognise that the low carbon technological transition is already underway and that future developments lie in renewable technologies like solar and wind, not in the fossil fuels of the 20th century. **The short-term efforts** associated with creating a clean, green economy will deliver long-term benefits for everyone, both in our local communities and around the world.

The Government's independent Climate Change Commission has said that in any of the five possible future scenarios, the cost of reaching net-zero will be 1% of GDP per year.<sup>33</sup> The Office for Budgetary Responsibility calculated in July of 2021 that the sooner we act on this, the cheaper it will be.<sup>34</sup>

#### 2. Protect the planet—the environmental case for divestment

Fossil fuel investments are also threatening our local communities by fuelling climate change. Already in the UK, we have seen that climate change poses severe threats and danger to our society: more frequent and extreme flooding causing damage to our homes and livelihoods, disruption to seasonal changes, and the destruction and loss of wildlife that depends on stable weather patterns to thrive.35 In addition to driving climate change, fossil fuels are also causing direct damage to public health through their contribution to air pollution. Almost one in five deaths in the UK—and 18% of deaths globally—have been linked to fine particle pollution from road traffic, power generation and other activities that involve burning petrol, diesel, coal and gas.36

In response to this challenge, local councils are already leading the push for climate action in many ways: championing local renewable energy, improving public transport, and working towards sustainable, energy efficient

housing. In the past, local authorities have helped clean up our rivers, banish smog from our cities, and protect the forests that we all enjoy today.

Investing in the companies fuelling climate change in tandem with these great efforts is counter-productive, at best. The inconsistency in this approach has both policy and financial consequences: not only do these investments go against councils' declarations of climate action, any actions that local governments take to cut fossil fuel use will also indirectly harm the profitability of these funds.

We need local authorities to re-invest our pensions into companies and projects that help tackle these problems in the present and build a better future. Thankfully, via the local government pension scheme, there are hundreds of millions of pounds already in councils' hands that local authorities could direct away from fossil fuels and towards local infrastructure.

## 3. Invest in our future—support local economies

There are many challenges and uncertainties ahead in relation to climate change. But what we do know is that here in the UK we have immense capacity to produce our own renewable energy locally, potentially creating thousands of local green jobs at the same time. In Germany this practice has been common for many years; hundreds of small energy enterprises allow local people to share in the profits of this infrastructure and enjoy a real sense of pride, ownership and responsibility towards their community.37 For instance, in Munich, public services like swimming pools and transport are subsidised by the council's investment in wind farms both locally, and off the coast of Wales.<sup>38</sup>

This kind of investment would not be new for UK councils. Thirty years ago, 60% of the LGPS was invested internally in the UK. By 2018, this figure had dropped to a mere 30%.<sup>39</sup> A recent report found that the total value of LGPS investment in place-based impact investing in key sectors is currently only £7.7 billion.<sup>40</sup> This is less than the almost £10 billion invested in fossil fuels.

Research shows that if all LGPS funds

unlock £16 billion for local communities.<sup>41</sup>

allocated 5% of their assets under man-

agement to local investing, this would

Some councils have already started utilising their pension funds to invest in our future:

- Councils in Manchester and London have invested in wind farms<sup>42</sup>
- × Lancashire Pension Fund invested in the UK's first community-owned solar power cooperative as well as building student housing in Preston<sup>43</sup>
- Falkirk Pension Fund has invested over £30 million in social housing<sup>44</sup>
- In London, pension organisations have worked together to launch a fund to invest hundreds of millions into affordable housing, community regeneration, digital infrastructure and clean energy around the city<sup>45</sup>

In England and Wales the Law

Commission has issued guidance for
trustees worried that these kinds of
investments might breach their duty
to run the fund solely in the interest of
the fund's beneficiaries. This guidance
asserts that "there are no legal or regulatory barriers to social investment."

46

The Commission also stressed that UK pensions invest very minimally in social investments such as property and infrastructure compared with pensions in the rest of the world, and reminded trustees bluntly that "it is possible to do well and do good at the same time."<sup>47</sup>

Clean energy technologies are a golden opportunity to rebuild our manufacturing base to create jobs for thousands, represent a sound and stable investment, and ensure that we leave a strong legacy for future generations. Jobs in offshore oil and gas in the North Sea have been on a downward trajectory since 2014.<sup>48</sup> We can use the transferable skills of these workers to build and train others to create the next great wave of national energy infrastructure for decades to come and to provide greater long-term employment opportunities spread across the UK.

# Case study: Is Shell changing fast enough?

Shell is the fossil fuel company most heavily invested in by LGPS funds.<sup>49</sup> Proponents of shareholder engagement are likely to point out that Shell has set a target of reaching net-zero by 2050, with an interim target of cutting the carbon intensity of its output by 20% by the end of the decade.<sup>50</sup> However, according to Shell's plan, reaching this 2030 target would require the use of more carbon offsets, such as planting trees, than are currently available in the entire global market.<sup>51</sup> In May 2021, a Dutch court ruled that Shell must cut its net carbon emissions by 45% by 2030. The ruling noted that Shell's current target of a 20% reduction is not sufficient to prevent global temperatures rising more than 1.5°C, in line with the Paris Agreement.<sup>52</sup> Shell has since confirmed that it will appealing the ruling. Surely any company truly committed to net-zero would not appeal against a legally binding, independent court ruling that says they must make their operations Paris-aligned?<sup>53</sup>

#### 4. Engagement has not worked

Proponents of "shareholder engagement" with fossil fuel companies suggest that, instead of divesting their portfolios, investors committed to climate action should hold on to their fossil fuel stocks in order to influence these companies to do better on environmental issues. This has been the main argument most LGPS funds have made against divestment recently. There is very limited evidence to suggest that engagement with fossil fuel companies can help meet this aim.

In order to keep warming below the 1.5°C global threshold needed to avert unacceptable dangers to humanity, the measure of successful engagement with fossil fuel companies would be that these companies commit to keeping the vast majority of their oil, gas and coal stocks in the ground, stop exploring for more reserves and rapidly transition to become almost entirely renewable **energy companies.** In the history of shareholder engagement with fossil fuel companies, this has not happened.<sup>54</sup> As the UN warns, countries are on course to produce more than twice the amount of fossil fuels in 2030 than would be consistent with 1.5 °C warming.55 The

solution, as 101 Nobel laureates have said, "is clear: fossil fuels must be kept in the ground". 56

The inefficacy of the engagement approach is especially evident in the case of local government pension funds, whose size and capacity limits them even further in their ability to achieve any fundamental change to the core business model of fossil fuel companies.<sup>57</sup>

Increasingly It is becoming clear to the public and asset managers that these companies are not changing at the speed the climate crisis demands. In October 2021, the OECD-funded International Energy Agency (IEA), the most influential energy modelling agency in the world, announced that if we are to reach net-zero by 2050 and meet the Paris targets then all fossil fuel companies must stop new oil and gas exploration projects this year.58 Not one of the ten fossil fuel companies most heavily invested in by LGPS members has yet to make this commitment.<sup>59</sup> In October 2021, the Treasury, BEIS and DWP published a report for the pensions and investment sector entitled Greening

Finance: A Roadmap to Sustainable Investing. They clearly state that, in some cases, engagement may need to be escalated to 'withholding capital or divestment for example where a company is not taking appropriate action to transition to net-zero'.60

In October 2021 ABP, the Dutch pension fund for civil servants and teachers, committed to divesting their €15 billion worth of holdings in fossil fuels by early 2023.<sup>61</sup> ABP is one of the world's largest pension funds and has significant holdings in Shell and BP.<sup>62</sup> Having previously attempted the strategy of engagement, the chair of the fund said 'We part with our investments in fossil fuel producers because we see insufficient opportunity for us as a shareholder to push for the necessary, significant acceleration of the energy transition at these companies.'<sup>63</sup>

Ultimately, none of this is to say that if you divest from fossil fuels you cannot continue to undertake engagement as a strategy to push other companies to do better on climate issues. It is admirable that the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) has successfully lobbied both Tesco and Sainsbury's on their impact on deforestation and the amount

of plastic used in their packaging.<sup>64</sup>
Pension funds that have divested from fossil fuels continue to pursue environmental engagement strategies with banks like HSBC and Barclays on their financing of fossil fuel projects. Crucially, here as with supermarkets, banks do not need fossil fuel production to continue to make a profit in the long term. This is clearly not the case for the likes of Shell and BP.

# Now is the time for ending fossil fuel investment

We are at a pivotal moment in the energy transition. The responsibility for divestment rests equally between councils run by all major political parties.<sup>65</sup> Here's why now is the time to act to demonstrate impactful local leadership, to financially protect pensions and our communities, and invest in a more sustainable future.

#### **Climate emergency**

Three-quarters of local councils have declared a climate emergency. For many councils, their largest carbon emissions will come from the emissions of the companies their pension fund invests in, though this is often not accounted for. Councillors often have to work very hard over a number of years to implement important responses to the climate emergency like cycle lanes, recycling facilities and EV charging points. Given the oversized impact it can play in reducing a council's overall carbon output, ending fossil fuel investment is relatively easy.

#### **Financial risk**

Oil prices have been trending downwards ever since they peaked in 2008.<sup>67</sup> Economic modeling of divesting from fossil fuels has been shown to have no negative financial impact on funds.<sup>68</sup> Joint research from Imperial College and the IEA has shown that the share price of fossil fuel companies are up 57% over the past decade, versus 423% growth for renewable firms.<sup>69</sup> Why take the chance in an increasingly volatile market? There is no fiduciary duty to invest in risky companies.

#### **UK climate targets**

Parliament has committed to ending financial support for overseas fossil fuel projects and passing into law a target of reducing emissions by 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels.<sup>70</sup> This ambition can be matched by local governments by taking the decision to divest and ending the financial support they give to the most polluting industries in the world.

#### Divestment has popular support

YouGov polling in March 2021 found that just 12% of the British public supported the investment of local government pension funds in fossil fuel companies.<sup>71</sup> On the other hand, 65% of voters supported the investment of pension funds into 'renewable energy projects' and only 5% opposed this suggestion. These findings are broadly consistent across regions in Britain and voters for the three largest political parties.

#### 'Selling into strength'

This is a term for when someone who holds shares sells them as the price is still rising, but the seller expects the trend to reverse in the short to medium-term. By selling fossil fuel holdings at the right time, a pension fund can guarantee a return, while removing the possibility of a significant loss. At the time of writing, fossil fuel share prices are rebounding following the end of COVID-19 lockdowns.<sup>72</sup> This process is expected to continue in the medium term as oil-reliant sectors like aviation will return to early 2019 levels only by 2023 at the earliest.<sup>73</sup> To fully implement a divestment commitment of a local government pension fund can take 3-5 years. Therefore, now is the time to pass a motion to fully divest so that your fund is in the best possible position for the future.

# What can councillors do?

Every councillor has power to help end fossil fuel investment from their local area. Whether you are on the pension fund committee or not you can help:

- × Explore your local government pension fund's fossil fuel investments using UK Divest's interactive tool.
- Pledge your support—add your name to UK Divest's list of councillors looking to push for fossil fuel divestment, by emailing ukdivest@gmail.com. We can also put you in touch with other councillors and individuals in your area who are supportive of the campaign.
- × Connect with local divestment campaigners in your constituency and have a meeting about how you can work together.
- Share this briefing with your colleagues—in particular, with party colleagues on your fund's pension fund committee. Ask them to meet to discuss the risks highlighted.
- × Get on your council's pension fund committee or request an audience with them to discuss divestment—contact UK Divest for resources and invite us to present alongside you.
- × Identify local investment priorities that your pension fund can invest in and start making the case as to why this matters and how it can work.

- Watch this presentation on divestment and send it to colleagues—the Founder of Carbon Tracker, an independent world-leading financial think tank, the Chief Executive of the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES), and Cllr Chris Weaver, Chair of a divesting pension fund, discuss the role pensions can play in enabling councils to build back better now and in the years to come.
- Put forward a motion to full council, calling on the council to stop any further investment in fossil fuels and divest current holdings within a defined number of years and calling on the pension fund associated with your council to divest. UK Divest have created a template motion you can use.<sup>74</sup>
- Not sure what you can do? Every councillor is in a unique position and every journey to ending your local area's support for fossil fuel companies is different. Get in touch with us at <a href="mailto:ukdivest@gmail.com">ukdivest@gmail.com</a> and we can work on a tailored approach for your situation together.

# References

- 1 Gosden, E. (2021) Council pension funds have £10bn in fossil fuels, The Times, 23 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/council-pension-funds-have-10bn-in-fossil-fuels-9v3f3zrc0
- 2 Robins N, Muller S, Tickell S and Szwarc K (2021) Just Zero: 2021 Report of the UK Financing a Just Transition Alliance. London: Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment, London School of Economics and Political Science.
- 3 Welsby, D., Price, J., Pye, S. et al. (2021) Unextractable fossil fuels in a 1.5 °C world. Nature 597, 230–234 (2021). Available at: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-021-03821-8
- 4 Cull, N. J. (2021). British Cities versus Apartheid: UK Local Authority Activism as City Diplomacy, Diplomatica, 3(1), 187-199. Available at: https://brill.com/view/journals/dipl/3/1/article-p187\_187.xml?ebody=Abstract%2FExcerpt#access-options2
- 5 Quigley, E.C., E. Bugden, and A. Odgers. (2020). Fossil Fuel Divestment: Advantages and Disadvantages for the University of Cambridge. CUP. Available at: https://www.cam.ac.uk/system/files/sm6\_divestment\_report.pdf.
- 6 Conservative Environmental Network (2020) Support for a green recovery. Available at: https://www.cen.uk.com/polling
- 7 Conservative Environmental Network (2020) Support for a green recovery. Available at: https://www.cen.uk.com/polling
- 8 LGPS funds that have pledged to fully or partially divest from fossil fuels include: Waltham Forest, Southwark, Lambeth, Hammersmith and Fulham, Cardiff and Vale, the Environment Agency, South Yorkshire, Haringey, Hackney, Merseyside, Islington, Suffolk, Swansea, Greater Manchester, Wiltshire, Oxfordshire and East Sussex. UK Divest believes all funds that have committed to partial divestment should take the next step in this process and fully divest their portfolios. For a case study of how Islington and New York have done this, see pages 11-15 of our recent report, Polluted Pensions? Clearing the air around UK pensions and fossil fuels: https://divest.org.uk/pollutedpensions

- 9 People & Planet (2021) Universities committed to pursuing fossil fuel divestment. Available at: https://peopleandplanet.org/fossil-free-victories
- Bright Now (2021) Divest your church. Available at: https://brightnow.org.uk/get-involved/divest-your-church-map/
- Collinson, P. & Ambrose, J. (2020) UK's biggest pension fund begins fossil fuels divestment, The Guardian, 29 July. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/jul/29/national-employment-savings-trust-uks-biggest-pension-fund-divests-from-fossil-fuels#:~:text=The%20 UK%27s%20biggest%20pension%20fund,landmark%20move%20for%20the%20industry.
- 10 Ambrose, J. (2020) Parliament pension fund cuts fossil fuel investments, The Guardian, 24 March. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/mar/24/parliament-pension-fund-cuts-fossil-fuel-investments
- 11 Stand.earth. (2021) Invest Divest 2021, Stand.earth, 26 December. Available at: https://www.stand.earth/DivestInvest2021
- 12 Nauman, B. (2020). New York state's \$226bn pension fund plans rolling fossil fuel divestments, Financial Times, 9 December. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/67e87d22-f733-4914-8c6a-e447e61d9ea2
- 13 ClientEarth (2016) Pension trustees could face legal challenge for ignoring climate risk leading QC confirms, 2 December. Available at: https://www.clientearth.org/latest/latest-updates/news/pension-trustees-could-face-legal-challenge-for-ignoring-climate-risk-leading-qc-confirms/
- 14 Miliband, E. (2021) The world has to keep fossil fuels in the ground we owe it to both current and future generations, The Independent 22 April. Available at: https://www.independent.co.uk/climate-change/opinion/fossil-fuels-climate-crisis-cop26-b1835829.html
- 15 LSE Grantham Institute (2018) What are stranded assets?, 23 January. Available at: https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/explainers/what-are-stranded-assets/.
- For more information on the carbon bubble: https://carbontracker.org/reports/carbon-bubble/
- 16 Clark, M. (2015) Mark Carney warns investors face 'huge' climate change losses, Financial Times, 29 September. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/622de3da-66e6-11e5-97d0-1456a776a4f5
- 17 Harvey, F. (2021) No new oil, gas or coal development if world is to reach net zero by 2050, says world energy body, The Guardian, 18 May. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/may/18/no-new-investment-in-fossil-fuels-demands-top-energy-economist
- 18 Williams, R. (2021) Climate change: No gas boilers to be sold by 2025 to reach net zero, Sky News, 19 May. Available at: https://news.sky.com/story/oil-and-gas-projects-are-junk-investments-and-could-throw-uk-climate-targets-off-course-12309593

- 19 IEA (2021) World Energy Outlook 2021, IEA, Available at: https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021
- 20 Marriage, M. (2015) Almost \$1bn wiped off the value of UK pensions' coal investments, Financial Times, 11 October. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/cb6adb90-6e7b-11e5-aca9-d87542bf8673
- Flood, C. (2020) UK public pension funds suffer £2bn hit to oil investments, Financial Times, 28 November. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/f74502ad-8ae9-4715-a297-364ab8418c11
- 21 IEA (2021) World Energy Outlook 2021, IEA, Available at: https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021
- 22 Macalister, T. (2000) BP rebrands on a global scale. The Guardian, 25 July. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/business/2000/jul/25/bp
- 23 Dempsey, H and Raval, A. (2019). BP faces 'greenwashing' complaint over advertising campaign. Financial Times, 4 December. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/f1d71e64-15f8-11ea-9ee4-11f260415385
- 24 Takahashi, P. (2020). BP to cut oil and gas production by 40% over 10 years. Houston Chronicle, 4 August. Available at: https://www.houstonchronicle.com/business/energy/article/BP-to-cut-oil-and-gas-production-by-40-over-the-15457052.php
- Jones, S. (2021) BP's big new gas plans in West Africa pose climate and biodiversity threats. Unearthed, 21 June. Available at: https://unearthed.greenpeace.org/2021/06/21/bp-gas-west-africa-senegal-mauritania-coral-reef/
- IEA (2021), World Energy Outlook 2021, IEA.. Available at: https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021
- 25 BP (2020) "BP sets ambition for net zero by 2050, fundamentally changing organisation to deliver," BP, 12 February. Available at: https://www.bp.com/en/global/corporate/news-and-insights/press-releases/bernard-looney-announces-new-ambition-for-bp.html
- Frost, R. (2020). What do green campaigners think of BP's plans to reach net zero?, Euronews Green, 6 August. Available at: https://www.euronews.com/green/2020/08/06/what-dogreen-campaigners-think-of-bp-s-plans-to-reach-net-zero
- 26 Taylor, M. (2021). No formal COP26 role for big oil amid doubts over firms' net zero plans. The Guardian, 21 October. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/oct/21/no-formal-cop26-role-for-big-oil-amid-doubts-over-firms-net-zero-plans
- 27 Ibid.

- 28 Klebnikov, S., (2020) Tesla Is Now the World's Most Valuable Car Company With a \$208 billion Valuation. Forbes, 1 July. Available at: https://www.forbes.com/sites/sergeiklebnikov/2020/07/01/tesla-is-now-the-worlds-most-valuable-car-company-with-a-valuation-of-208-billion/?sh=694900dc5334
- 29 Riding, S. (2020) Majority of ESG funds outperform wider market over 10 years, Financial Times, 13 June. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/733ee6ff-446e-4f8b-86b2-19ef42da3824
- 30 Sanzillo, T. (2021) IEEFA: Major investment advisors BlackRock and Meketa provide a fiduciary path through the energy transition, Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis, 22 March. Available at: https://ieefa.org/major-investment-advisors-blackrock-and-meketa-provide-a-fiduciary-path-through-the-energy-transition/
- 31 MSCI (2021) MSCI ACWI ex Fossil Fuels Index (GBP). Available at: https://www.msci.com/documents/10199/d6f6d375-cadc-472f-9066-131321681404
- 32 IEA (2021) World Energy Outlook 2021, IEA, Available at: https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021
- 33 The Climate Change Committee (2021), Building Back Better. Available at: https://www.theccc.org.uk/2020/12/09/building-back-better-raising-the-uks-climate-ambitions-for-2035-will-put-net-zero-within-reach-and-change-the-uk-for-the-better/
- 34 Strauss, D. (2021). Funding transition to net zero could cost the UK less than pandemic, OBR says, Financial Times, 6 July. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/ba2cdf7d-898d-4b22-b40b-8d2d80b631f8
- 35 The Climate Change Committee, (2021) Independent Assessment of UK Climate Risk: Advice to Government. June. Available at: https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Independent-Assessment-of-UK-Climate-Risk-Advice-to-Govt-for-CCRA3-CCC.pdf
- 36 Webster, B. (2021) Pollution from fossil fuels twice as deadly as thought, scientists warn, The Times, 9 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/pollution-from-fossil-fuels-twice-as-deadly-as-thought-scientists-warn-lxbgtp6pc
- 37 Julian, C. (2014) Creating Local Energy Economies: Lessons from Germany, ResPublica, 24 July. Available at: https://www.respublica.org.uk/our-work/publications/creating-local-energy-economies-lessons-germany/
- 38 Kelsey, C. (2013) Gwynt y Mor, Wales' largest offshore wind farm, generates power for first time, Wales Online, 6 September. Available at: https://www.walesonline.co.uk/business/gwynt-y-mor-wales-largest-5849049

- 39 Gray, J. (2018) The role of pensions in building community wealth, Professional Pensions, 15 March. Available at: https://www.professionalpensions.com/opinion/3028528/-role-pensions-building-community-wealth
- 40 Robins N, Muller S, Tickell S and Szwarc K (2021) Just Zero: 2021 Report of the UK Financing a Just Transition Alliance. Page 33. Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment, LSE. October. Available at: https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Just-Zero\_2021-Report-of-the-UK-Financing-a-Just-Transition-Alliance.pdf
- 41 Ibid.
- 42 Coyne, B. (2017) London and Manchester pension funds increase stake in SSE's Clyde Windfarm, The Energyst, 1 August. Available at: https://theenergyst.com/london-and-manchester-pension-funds-increase-stake-in-sses-clydewindfarm
- 43 Blue & Green Tomorrow (2013) Westmill solar co-op gets £12m backing from Lancashire council pension fund, 8 February. Available at: https://blueandgreentomorrow.com/economy/westmill-solar-lancashire-pension-fund

Lancashire County Council (2015) Winning approach for Lancashire pensions, 15 September. Available at: https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/news/details/?ld=PR15/0422

- 44 Lander, R. (2017) Divest and Reinvest: Scottish council pensions for a future worth living in, Friends of the Earth Scotland. Available at: <a href="https://foe.scot/resource/divest-reinvest-councils-report/">https://foe.scot/resource/divest-reinvest-councils-report/</a>
- 45 London CIV (2021) The London Fund completes £100m first close. Available at: https://londonciv.org.uk/news/the-london-fund-completes-ps100-million-first-close-to-stimulate-development-and-enterprise-in-the-capital
- 46 Law Commission (2017) No legal barriers to social investment, but pension schemes still not investing, 23 June. Available at: www.lawcom.gov.uk/no-legal-barriers-to-social-investment-but-pension-schemes-still-not-investing
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 Thomas, N. (2020) Oil groups fear loss of 30,000 jobs at UK North Sea fields, Financial Times, 28 April. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/d9ae865b-fe55-4727-a935-589c0fe27976
- 49 UK Divest (2021) Divesting to protect our pensions and the planet: An analysis of local government investments in coal, oil and gas, p.10. Available at: https://www.divest.org.uk/report
- 50 Raval, A. (2021). Shell's climate defeat: an omen for all polluters? Financial Times, 27 May. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/1ef8739c-585b-4b25-8177-fe821c8b7375

51 "Shell wants to ramp up its use of nature-based carbon offsets, which include forestation projects, to 120 million tonnes a year by 2030, a big jump given the entire voluntary carbon offset market reached 104 million tonnes in 2019"

Reuters Staff (2021) Shell turns to forests and the earth to soak up its emissions, Reuters, 11 February. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-shell-strategy-carboncapture-carbonof-idUSKBN2AB0TL

- 52 Raval, A. (2021). Shell's climate defeat: an omen for all polluters? Financial Times, 27 May. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/1ef8739c-585b-4b25-8177-fe821c8b7375
- 53 Sheppart, D. (2021). Shell appeals against Dutch emissions order. Financial Times, 20 July. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/a8856b9c-495f-4ee7-a6b2-d1ffeae28240
- 54 In a 2020 study of the sustainability practices of the largest pension funds in the world, representing ownership of over £70 billion in fossil fuel assets, researchers found only one example of direct engagement with a fossil fuel firm where the company was asked to keep their fossil fuel assets in the ground, and even this did not lead to a commitment to do so from the firm.

Rempel, A., and Gupta, J. (2020) Conflicting commitments? Examining pension funds, fossil fuel assets and climate policy in the organisation for economic co-operation and development, Energy Research & Social Science. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221462962030311X

See Rempel, A. & Gupta, J. (2020) Conflicting commitments? Examining pension funds, fossil fuel assets and climate policy in the organisation for economic co-operation and development (OECD), Energy Research & Social Science, 69. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221462962030311X

- 55 UNEP (2021) 2021 Production gap report. 20 October. Available at: https://www.unep.org/resources/report/2021-production-gap-report
- 56 Miliband, E. (2021) The world has to keep fossil fuels in the ground, The Independent, 22 April. Available at: https://www.independent.co.uk/climate-change/opinion/fossil-fuels-climate-crisis-cop26-b1835829.html
- 57 For more on engagement, see Friends of the Earth (2018) Briefing: Pension Funds' engagement with fossil fuel companies. Available at: https://cdn.friendsoftheearth.uk/sites/default/files/downloads/Briefing%20Pension%20Funds%27%20engagement%20with%20fossil%20fuel%20companies%20March%202018.pdf
- 58 IEA (2021), World Energy Outlook 2021, IEA.. Available at: https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021

- 59 UK Divest (2021) Divesting to protect our pensions and the planet An analysis of local government investments in coal, oil and gas, p.11. Available at: https://www.divest.org.uk/report
- Tong, D. (2020) Big oil reality check: assessing oil and gas company climate plans, Oil Change International, p.13. Available at: http://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2020/09/OCI-Big-Oil-Reality-Check-vF.pdf
- 60 HM Government (2021) Greening Finance: A Roadmap to Sustainable Investing, pg. 32.. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/1026224/CCS0821102722-006\_Green\_Finance\_Paper\_2021\_v5\_Bookmarked\_48PP.pdf
- 61 Boffey, D. (2021) One of world's biggest pension funds to stop investing in fossil fuels. The Guardian. 26 October. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/oct/26/abp-pension-fund-to-stop-investing-in-fossil-fuels-amid-climate-fears
- 62 Ibid.
- 63 Ibid.
- 64 LAPFF. (2020) Quarterly Engagement Report July September 2020. Local Authority Pension Fund Forum. Available at: https://lapfforum.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/LAPFF\_QER3\_2020.pdf
- 65 Merrick, R. (2021) Labour and Tories under fire for £7.5bn in 'dirty' council pension funds, Independent, 21 April. Available at: https://www.independent.co.uk/politics/labour-conservatives-fossil-fuel-pensions-b1835051.html
- 66 Declare a Climate Emergency (2021) List of councils who have declared a climate emergency, 24 February. Available at: https://www.climateemergency.uk/blog/list-of-councils/
- 67 Sheppard, D. (2019) The \$100m oil trader Andy Hall finally sticks his oar in, Financial Times, 5 April. Available at: <a href="https://www.ft.com/content/9b924fda-56b1-11e9-91f9-b6515a54c5b1">www.ft.com/content/9b924fda-56b1-11e9-91f9-b6515a54c5b1</a>
- 68 Grantham, J. (2018) The mythical peril of divesting from fossil fuels, LSE Grantham Institute, 13 June. Available at: https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/news/the-mythical-peril-of-divesting-from-fossil-fuels/
- 69 IEA and Imperial (2021) Clean energy investing: Global comparison of investment returns. Imperial College Business School. March. Available at: https://imperialcollegelondon.app.box.com/s/73em3ob3h1pu0a0ek3bay2ydiss8×0rr

- 70 There are a limited number of exceptional circumstances where this may continue. See Nugent, C. (2020) U.K. Says It Will End Support for Overseas Oil, Gas and Coal Projects With 'Very Limited Exceptions', Time, 11 December. Available at: https://time.com/5920475/u-k-fossil-fuels-overseas/
- UK Government (2021) UK enshrines new target in law to slash emissions by 78% by 2035, 20 April. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-enshrines-new-target-in-law-to-slash-emissions-by-78-by-2035
- 71 Ferris, D. (2021) 41% of people oppose LGPS investment in fossil fuels, Pensions Age, 19 March. Available at: https://www.pensionsage.com/pa/41-people-oppose-LGPS-investment-in-fossil-fuels. php
- 72 Browning, N. (2021). Oil prices climb as COIV recovery, power generators stoke demand. Reuters. 18 October. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/oil-prices-climb-highest-years-covid-recovery-power-generators-stoke-demand-2021-10-18/
- 73 Haill, O. (2021) Rolls-Royce blames new Covid strains on worsening outlook for 2021, Proactive Investors, 26 January. Available at: https://www.proactiveinvestors.co.uk/companies/news/939449/rolls-royce-blames-new-covid-strains-on-worsening-outlook-for-2021-939449.html
- 74 See p.9 of this guide for more information on how to go about putting forward a motion and if your council controls the pension fund: http://gofossilfree.org/uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2016/09/Fossil-Fuel-Divestment\_v2-1.pdf



#### Keep in touch

To find out more about fossil fuel divestment and to get in touch; Visit divest.org.uk
Follow UK Divest on Facebook and Twitter
Contact UK Divest at ukdivest@gmail.com

#### **About UK Divest**

Across the UK, local grassroots groups are demanding our communities and public institutions cut their political, social and financial ties to the fossil fuel industry. Supporting this network is UK Divest, a collaboration between Friends of the Earth, Friends of the Earth Scotland and Platform.

View this document as an interactive PDF with hyperlinks online at www.divest.org.uk/councillorbriefing





